IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CAVIN EARL REED

FILED

APPELLANT

AUG 2 1 2008

V.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2008-KA-00573-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS
Hunter Aikens, N
301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Cavin Earl Reed

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CAVIN EARL REED

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-00573-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. REED'S CONVICTION FOR MURDER WAS BASED ON INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE AND WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.
 - A. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THAT REED DID NOT ACT IN SELF-DEFENSE; THEREFORE, THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A CONVICTION FOR EITHER MURDER OR MANSLAUGHTER.
 - B. ALTERNATIVELY, THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE THAT REED ACTED WITH DELIBERATE DESIGN, AND REED WAS GUILTY, AT MOST, OF MANSLAUGHTER.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING REED AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER UNDER MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 99-19-83, AS THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THAT REED HAD BEEN SENTENCED TO AND ACTUALLY SERVED SEPARATE TERMS OF ONE YEAR OR MORE ON EACH OF HIS PRIOR FELONY CONVICTIONS.
- III. REED'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL WAS VIOLATED.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Cavin Earl Reed (Reed) was convicted by a jury in the Circuit Court of Harrison County for the murder of his girlfriend, Angeline Lawanna Combs (Combs), under Mississippi Code Annotated section 97-3-19(1)(a) (Rev. 2006). (Tr. 342, C.P. 99, 101-02). The trial court sentenced Reed to a term of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole as a habitual offender pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-19-83 (Rev.2007). (Tr. 344-45, C.P. 101-02, R.E. 7-8, 13-14). Reed is presently incarcerated under the supervision of the Mississippi Department of Corrections and now seeks relief from this honorable Court.

FACTS

Reed and Combs were involved in a two-month long romantic relationship that ended in the early morning hours of August 3, 2006, when Combs was shot and fatally wounded by Reed during a confrontation between the two at Combs' apartment. (Tr. 110, Ex. S-2, S-12). Carrissia Martin, an acquaintance of Reed and Combs, allegedly spoke with Reed two days before, and Reed told her that he was sick of Combs messing around on him, and he was going to kill her. (Tr. 192-94). However, Martin did not think Reed was serious. (Tr. 192-94). On a prior occasion, Combs attacked Reed with a butcher knife and threatened to kill him. (Ex. S-2, S-12).

At approximately 4:12 a.m. on August 3, 2006, Combs' neighbor, Aisha Carson (Carson), contacted the Biloxi Police Department (BPD) after she heard a commotion in Combs' apartment that she described as follows: "It was like they was going from wall to wall, like they was tussling." (Tr. 111-12, 119). Carson allegedly saw Combs being "pushed in and out" of her third-story bedroom window and allegedly heard Combs say "she give in." (Tr. 111-12, 143). However, on cross examination, Carson admitted that she heard no words whatsoever. (Tr. 120). After Carson got off the phone, she noticed a blue Chevrolet Lumina speed out of the parking lot. (Tr. 117).

The responding officers discovered what appeared to be droplets of blood on the first floor of the stairwell; the droplets led to Combs' apartment. (Tr. 146). Combs' bedroom window was broken and shards of glass as well as droplets and puddles of blood were scattered about. (Tr. 149-151). Also, three shell casings and two bullets, later identified in caliber as Winchester .380, were recovered from Combs' bedroom: one from the floor near the window, the other from the bedroom wall. (Tr. 232-33, 242). A third bullet was found lodged in the back of the front door of the

^{1.} It appears from the record that the Chevrolet Lumina belonged to Combs.

apartment. (Tr. 232-33, 242). At approximately 5:17 a.m., Combs' car was found parked on the shoulder of interstate 110; Combs' lifeless body was slumped backwards in the front passenger seat. (Tr. 164-65).

The investigation focused on Reed.² At approximately 8:00 a.m, Michael Brown, an investigator with the BPD, went to the home of Reed's mother, Pearlie Mae Reed. (Tr. 175). There, Investigator Brown spoke with Reed on the phone, and Reed requested that Investigator Brown come pick him up from a relative's house. (Tr. 176-77). However, as Reed was giving directions, other officers arrived at Reed's location and took him to police headquarters for questioning. (Tr. 178). At approximately 11:25 a.m., Investigator Brown and another officer procured from Reed a signed explanation and waiver of rights and took a video recorded statement. (Tr. 181-82, Ex. S-2, S-12).

In his statement, Reed explained that he and Combs had been seeing each other for about two months, and Combs had attacked him with a butcher knife and threatened to kill him on a prior occasion. (Ex. S-2, S-12). Reed knew that Combs kept two guns in a shoebox in her closet, a fact of great significance, as will be seen below. (Ex. S-2, S-12). The following is Reed's account of the events leading to Combs' death..

On the evening on August 2, 2006, Reed was at Combs' apartment. (Ex. S-2, S-12). Reed told Combs that he was going to leave her, and Combs told Reed, "the only way we are going to separate is by death." (Ex. S-2, S-12). Combs also asked Reed if he remembered that she had two guns and asked "why do you think I (sic) got two of them?" (Ex. S-2, S-12). Reed and Combs watched television until approximately 3:00 a.m., when they went to bed. (Ex. S-2, S-12). Combs

^{2.} The record is unclear as to exactly how Reed became a possible suspect. Apparently, Carson identified Reed as Combs' boyfriend as the attacker to police; however she testified that did not actually see Reed on the night in question.

began "teasing" Reed in sexual manner; this unnerved him because he knew that Combs would not have sex with him. (Ex. S-2, S-12). Reed then left the bedroom and went into the living room; however, he forgot his cigarettes. (Ex. S-2, S-12). Reed returned to the bedroom to retrieve his cigarettes and discovered that Combs had locked the bedroom door. (Ex. S-2, S-12). Reed asked Combs to slide his cigarettes under the door; but she refused. (Ex. S-2, S-12). Reed then got a screwdriver, and dismantled the doorknob. (Ex. S-2, S-12).

When Reed entered the bedroom, he told Combs that he was "about to smoke [him] a cigarette and leave her ass." (Ex. S-2, S-12). At this point the encounter became confrontational. Combs, who had since grabbed the screwdriver, swung it at Reed and cut his finger. (Ex. S-2, S-12). Reed started to leave, and Combs retrieved one gun from the shoebox in her closet, set it on the bed, and said, "You ain't going nowhere," "You remember what I told you, we (sic) gonna leave together?" (Ex. S-2, S-12). Combs then reached inside the closet again (so as to get the other gun) and turned toward Reed with one hand behind her back and the screwdriver in her other hand. (Ex. S-2, S-12). Sensing danger, Reed grabbed the other gun from the bed. (Ex. S-2, S-12). Combs then quickly drew her hand from behind her back toward Reed while loudly saying "BOOM!" (Ex. S-2, S-12). Reed instinctively threw his hands up and fired a shot that hit Combs as she and Reed "tussled." (Ex. S-2, S-12). Notwithstanding that Combs had been shot, she continued to attack Reed; whereupon, Reed "snapped" and fired at least one more shot as the struggle continued. (Ex. S-2, S-12). As it were, Combs did not actually have the other gun; however, Reed believed that she did. (Ex. S-2, S-12). Significantly, a .9mm handgun was later discovered by police in the shoebox in Combs' closet. (Tr. 246).

According to Reed, Combs then attempted to break out of her bedroom window, and he pulled her back inside so he could take her to the hospital. (Ex. S-2, S-12). Reed helped Combs into

her car and began driving to the hospital, but the car broke down on the interstate where it was later discovered. (Ex. S-2, S-12). Reed then hitchhiked to a relative's house where he was later apprehended. (Ex. S-2, S-12).

Dr. Paul McGary, who performed an autopsy of Combs' body, testified that Combs died from two gunshot wounds, fired at close range—up to two feet. (Tr. 205-06, 221-23). He could not determine which wound Combs received first. (Tr. 221). One wound (referred to in the record and hereinafter as "wound A") entered Combs' right cheek, traveling upward and slightly rightward, and exited at the base of Combs' right ear. (Tr. 206-07). This wound was not fatal. (Tr. 207). Dr. McGary testified that wound A was consistent with a shot fired while two persons were facing each other. (Tr. 208).

The bullet causing the other wound (referred to in the record and hereinafter as "wound B") entered the back of Combs' right shoulder at an upward angle, exited the top of her right shoulder, (re)entered her neck, passed through her neck, and came out of her mouth. (Tr. 209). Wound B was much more serious. (Tr. 213). When asked whether wound B was consistent with a shot fired while two people were facing each other, Dr. McGary explained: "[Combs] would be in a turned position where her left shoulder was going away from the shooter, her right shoulder was coming toward the shooter." (Tr. 211).

The jury was instructed on self-defense, deliberate design murder, and manslaughter. (C.P. 75-81). After deliberation, the jury found Reed guilty of murder. (C.P. 99, Tr. 342). The trial judge determined that Reed was a habitual offender under Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-19-83 and sentenced Reed to life imprisonment. (Tr. 344-45, C.P. 101-02, R.E. 7-8, 13-14). Reed's motion for a new trial or, in the alternative for JNOV was denied. (C.P. 107, R.E. 9-12).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Reed's conviction for murder was based on insufficient evidence and was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The State failed to prove that Reed did not act in self-defense. Therefore, a judgment of acquittal was the only proper verdict, and the trial court erred in denying Reed's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV). Also, such a finding was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and the trial court erred in denying Reed's motion for a new trial.

Alternatively, the State failed to establish that Reed killed Combs with deliberate design, and such a finding was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The evidence established that Reed was guilty, at most, of heat of passion manslaughter or imperfect self-defense manslaughter. Therefore, Reed requests this Court to reverse and remand this case for a new trial or, alternatively, to remand this case for re-sentencing for manslaughter under "the direct remand rule." *See*, *Wade* v. *State*, 748 So. 2d 771, 777 (¶20) (Miss. 1999).

Further, the trial court erred in sentencing Reed as an habitual offender under Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-19-83 (Rev. 2007), as the State failed to establish that Reed *actually served* one year or more on each previous felony sentence. Therefore, if this Court determines that this case should be remanded for re-sentencing for manslaughter, Reed requests that he be sentenced on remand under Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-19-81 (Rev. 2007), instead of section 99-19-83.

Beyond all this, Reed's constitutional right to a speedy trial was violated because the State allowed at least four hundred and eighty-four (484) days to pass between the time of Reed's arrest and the time of trial. Consequently, this Court should dismiss the charges against Reed.

ARGUMENT

I. REED'S CONVICTION FOR MURDER WAS BASED ON INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE AND WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, the relevant inquiry is whether, "viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 843 (Miss. 2005) (quoting *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 315, 99 S.Ct. 2781, (1979)). The verdict will not be disturbed where the evidence so reviewed is such that "reasonable fair-minded men in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions on every element of the offense." *Id.* (citing *Edwards v. State*, 469 So.2d 68, 70 (Miss.1985)). However, the proper remedy is to reverse and render where the evidence "point[s] in favor of the defendant on any element of the offense with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty[.]" *Id.*

In reviewing a challenge to the weight of the evidence, the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Id.* at 844 (citing *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997)). On appeal, the verdict will be only be disturbed "when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." *Id.* at 844.

A. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THAT REED DID NOT ACT IN SELF-DEFENSE; THEREFORE, THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A CONVICTION FOR EITHER MURDER OR MANSLAUGHTER.

Mississippi Code Annotated section 97-3-15(1)(f) (Rev. 2006), provides that the killing of another is justifiable for the reason of self defense:

(f) When committed in the lawful defense of one's own person or any other human being, where there shall be reasonable ground to apprehend a design to commit a felony or to do some great personal injury, and there shall be imminent danger of such design being accomplished[.]

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-15(1)(f) (Rev. 2006). Under the "stand his ground" principle, "a defendant is not deprived of the right to claim self-defense in a slaying even if he could have avoided the threat to his safety by fleeing." *Haynes v. State*, 451 So.2d 227, 229 (Miss. 1984). This principal holds that one faced with a reasonable apprehension of great personal injury has no duty to flee so long as:

he is in a place where he has a right to be, and is neither engaged in an unlawful, nor the provoker of, nor the aggressor in, the combat. In such case, he may stand his ground and resist force by force, taking care that his resistance be not disproportioned to the attack.

Wade v. State, 724 So. 2d 1007, 1010 (Miss. 1998) (quoting Cook v. State, 467 So.2d 203, 210-11 (Miss. 1985)).

Reed was the only eyewitness to Combs' death; therefore, "[his] version, if reasonable, must be accepted as true, unless *substantially* contradicted in *material* particulars by a *credible* witness or witnesses for the state, or by the physical facts or by the facts of common knowledge." *Weathersby v. State*, 165 Miss. 207, 147 So. 481, 482 (1933) (emphasis added).

The points of contradiction between Reed's version of Combs' death and the remaining evidence that warrant discussion are (1) Carson's testimony that she heard Combs say "she give in," (2) Carson's testimony that she saw Combs being "pushed in and out" of the window, and (3) the fact that wound B entered the back of Combs' right shoulder.

Carson was not a *credible* witness, and her testimony did not *substantially* contradict Reed's version in any *material* particular. Although Carson claimed that she heard Combs say "she give in[,]" Carson, directly contradicted this when she admitted on cross-examination that she heard no words whatsoever. (T. 120). Additionally, while Carson alleged that she saw Combs being "pushed in and out" of her bedroom window, it is undisputed that the blinds in Combs' window were drawn.

(T. 124, Ex. S-9). Thus, her view was obviously obstructed to some extent. Further, Carson's testimony is not substantially at odds with Reed's explanation that Combs tried to break through the window and he pulled her back inside, especially in light of the fact that it was dark outside and the blinds were drawn.

Although the bullet causing wound B did enter the back of Combs' right shoulder, Dr. McGary clarified that "[Combs] would be in a turned position where her left shoulder was going away from the shooter, her right shoulder was coming toward the shooter." (Tr. 211). It is a necessary inference that Combs turned her torso as she swung the screwdriver at Reed. Thus, if Reed fired while Combs was turned ready to strike, the bullet would naturally follow the path of wound B. This evidence actually supports Reed's version; it does not *substantially* contradict it in any *material* particular. Thus, the *Weathersby* rule applies, and Reed's version of the incident must be accepted as true.

Reed's account of the incident establishes that he acted in self-defense. Combs had previously threatened to kill Reed and attacked him with a butcher knife. (Ex. S-2, S-12). Reed entered Combs' bedroom to retrieve his cigarettes without incident until he told Combs that he was leaving. At that point, Combs became angry and swung a screwdriver at Reed; therefore, Reed was not the aggressor, Combs was. As Reed began to leave, Combs said "You ain't going nowhere" and "You remember what I told you, we (sic) gonna leave together?" (Ex. S-2, S-12). This establishes that Combs wanted Reed to be in her apartment; thus, Reed was in a place where he had a right to be. Additionally, Combs' statements were suggestive of death. As Combs turned toward Reed with her hand behind her back and the screwdriver in her other hand, Reed grabbed the gun from the bed. He did not fire a shot until Combs quickly drew her hand from behind her back and loudly said "BOOM." Combs then continued to attack Reed with the screwdriver, and Reed "snapped" and fired

at least one more shot as the struggle continued. (Ex. S-2, S-12).

These facts establish that Reed had reasonable grounds to apprehend that Combs was about to inflict some great personal injury upon him, and the danger of the risk was imminent. Significantly, a gun was discovered in a shoebox in Combs' closet, exactly as Reed said. (Tr. 246). Although Martin testified that Reed told her that he was going to kill Combs, this Court has acknowledged that "a homicide may result from a wilful act or deliberate design without being murder if the killing occurs in necessary self-defense or results from an act committed in the heat of passion without malice aforethought." *Bradford v. State*, 910 So. 2d 1232, 1233 (¶7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

Accordingly, the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Reed did not act in self-defense when he shot Combs. Reed is guilty of neither murder nor manslaughter, and a judgment of acquittal is proper.

B. ALTERNATIVELY, THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE THAT REED ACTED WITH DELIBERATE DESIGN, AND REED WAS GUILTY, AT MOST, OF MANSLAUGHTER.

Reed was convicted of deliberate design murder under Mississippi Code Annotated section 97-3-19(1)(a) (Rev. 2006), which provides in pertinent part: (1) The killing of a human being without the authority of law by any means or in any manner shall be murder...(a) [w]hen done with deliberate design to effect the death of the person killed" Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(1)(a) (Rev. 2006). The Mississippi Supreme Court has defined deliberate design as follows:

[D]eliberate always indicates full awareness of what one is doing, and generally implies careful and unhurried consideration of the consequences. "Design" means to calculate, plan, contemplate ... deliberate design to kill a person may be formed very quickly, and perhaps only moments before the act of consummating the intent.

Gossett v. State, 660 So.2d 1285, 1293 (Miss.1995) (quoting Windham v. State, 520 So.2d 123, 127

(Miss.1988)). "[T]he main distinction between murder and manslaughter is that malice is present in murder and absent in manslaughter." *McCain v. State*, 971 So. 2d 608 (¶18) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Moody v. State*, 841 So.2d 1067, 1096 (¶96) (Miss.2003)). Malice and deliberate design are synonymous. *Tran v. State*, 681 So. 2d 514, 517 (Miss. 1996) (citations omitted).

Although the use of a deadly weapon permits the inference that the defendant acted with deliberate design, *Carter v. State*, 722 So. 2d 1258, 1263 (Miss. 1998) (citations omitted), the Mississippi Supreme Court has explained that "a killing with a deadly weapon may be . . . justified as having been committed by the accused acting in lawful self-defense, or mitigated manslaughter." *Nicolaou v. State*, 534 So. 2d 168, 172 (Miss. 1988). As stated above, this Court has also acknowledged that "a homicide may result from a wilful act or deliberate design without being murder if the killing occurs in necessary self-defense or results from an act committed in the heat of passion without malice aforethought." *Bradford*, 910 So. 2d at 1233 (¶7).

In the instant case, the evidence presented by the State failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Reed acted with deliberate design, and such a finding was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The evidence established that Reed was guilty, at most, of heat of passion manslaughter or imperfect self-defense manslaughter.

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