# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## CAVIN EARL REED

APPELLANT

VS.

• ;

٩

NO. 2008-KA-0573

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# APPELLEE

## **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

### JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

Investigator Michael Brown of the Biloxi Police Department testified that on August 3, 2006, he was dispatched to the residence of Pearlie Mae Reed, the defendant's mother. As he

began talking with Ms. Reed, her telephone rang. Ultimately, Investigator Brown spoke with the caller, who identified himself as Cavin Reed. The caller told Investigator Brown that he was at 9120 Jim Ramsey Road in Vancleave. "At first" Reed asked "could his mama come and pick him up," but Investigator Brown "told him that wouldn't work," but that he (Investigator Brown) "would have to come and pick him up." While Reed was providing directions to his location, he told Investigator Brown "that a sheriff's car had pulled up in the yard." Investigator Brown advised Reed to "walk outside with his hands up, and that's what he did." (T.175-78)

Thereafter, Reed waived his rights and gave a statement, a recording of which was admitted into evidence and played for the jury. (T.181-84) In that statement, Reed said that he was frustrated that Ms. Combs had been refusing to have sexual relations with him. He stated further that he had taken the locked doorknob off her bedroom door, and that he and she "got into a confrontation." Because she had threatened earlier to shoot him, he "just snapped" when he heard her say "boom." He then shot her, took her to his car, drove her "across the bridge" to Biloxi, and ultimately abandoned Ms. Combs and the car.

Carrissia Martin testified that she had known the defendant for approximately 10 years and the victim for 10 to 12 years. "[A] couple of months" after she moved to Keesler Bay Villa Apartments, she "found out" that Reed and Ms. Combs "were dating." Ms. Martin was under the impression that Reed was living with Ms. Combs. Reed would on occasion visit Ms. Martin at her apartment. Approximately two weeks before Ms. Combs' death, Reed told Ms. Martin that "people was [sic] telling him that she was cheating on him and that he was tired of the cheating and stuff like that." A "couple of days before" Ms. Combs died, Reed reiterated that he was "sick" of Ms. Combs' "cheating" and said that "she [Ms. Combs] wasn't going to be around ... because he was tired of it." (T.189-93)

Dr. Paul McGarry, accepted by the court as an expert in the field of forensic pathology, testified that he had performed the autopsy on the body of Angeline Combs. The victim had sustained "little cut wounds on the soles of her feet involving her toes, involving her toenails. She had some cut wounds on the back of her wrists, fingernails." She also "had a bruise on the front of each shoulder, and she had a one and a half inch abrasion on her left knee, a smaller abrasion of her left ankle where the skin was rubbed away as if she had fallen on a rough surface." (T.205-06)

Dr. McGarry went on to testify that Ms. Combs had suffered two gunshot injuries which he described as Wound A and Wound B. Wound A "went into her check right at the angle of her mouth on the right. It went upward and backward, slightly rightward and came out right at the base of her ear." The bullet which caused this wound "did not hit any vital structures" and would not, by itself, have been fatal. Wound B "went in the back of her shoulder seven inches to the right of the midline of her back one and a half inches below the top of her shoulder ... " This wound "also went upward"; it also "went forward 15 degrees and "came out the top of her shoulder." The bullet "opened up some sizable vessels to the right side of her neck where it went in," causing "bleeding into her throat, her mouth, her nose." (T.206-09) Ms. Combs had died of the resulting internal and external bleeding. (T.221)

In August 2006, Michael Reid was employed by the Biloxi Police Department as a crime scene investigator. When he was dispatched to the scene of this crime on August 3, he "found a trail of blood leading from apartment 136." This trail "continued down the west stairwell to the second floor, ... across the breezeway to the east side stairs, went down those set of the stairs, through a grassy area, into the parking lot, and to a parking space," where "there was a large pool of blood." He also observed "a broken window" which he later determined to be in Apartment

136. In that apartment, "There were blood drops between the master bedroom to the front door. There were ... bullet casings found." One casing "was found on the floor just inside the doorway. One was found on the bed, and the other one was found on the east side of the bed." Another bullet "was recovered on the floor just under the broken window." Still "another bullet fragment" was found "in the northwest corner of the bedroom." "[T]wo tooth fragments [were] recovered off the bed." Investigator Reid found "a flathead screwdriver on the floor. The doorknob had been removed from the bedroom door." (T.226-34)

The defense rested without presenting evidence. (T.286)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, the state contends the verdict is based on legally sufficient proof and is not contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The state presented ample proof that Reed was guilty of murder.

Additionally, the state submits Reed's challenge to the enhancement of his sentence was waived by his failure to object below. Alternatively, the state contends the prosecution presented sufficient proof for enhancement under MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-19-81 (1972) (as amended). Because Reed stands convicted of murder, the sentence would be identical under either of the habitual-offender statutes. It follows that Reed's sentence of life without parole should be affirmed.

Finally, the state asserts that Reed's speedy trial issue is not properly before this Court. His failure to pursue his motion for a hearing and to obtain a ruling thereon leave this Court with nothing to review with respect to this question.

#### **PROPOSITION ONE:**

## <u>THE VERDICT IS BASED ON LEGALLY SUFFICIENT PROOF</u> <u>AND IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING</u> <u>WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE</u>

Reed first attacks the sufficiency and weight of the evidence undergirding his conviction

of murder. To prevail on the assertion that he is entitled to a judgment of acquittal, he must

satisfy the following formidable standard of review:

When on appeal one convicted of a criminal offense challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence, our authority to interfere with the jury's verdict is guite limited. We proceed by considering all of the evidence--not just that supporting the case for the prosecution--in the light most consistent with the verdict. We give [the] prosecution the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. If the facts and inferences so considered point in favor of the accused with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that he was guilty, reversal and discharge are required. On the other hand, if there is in the record substantial evidence of such quality and weight that, having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable and fair-minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, the verdict of guilty is thus placed beyond our authority to disturb.

*Manning v. State*, 735 So.2d 323, 333 (Miss.1999), quoting *McFee v. State*, 511 So.2d 130, 133-34 (Miss.1987).

Furthermore,

The jury is charged with the responsibility of weighing and considering conflicting evidence, evaluating the credibility of witnesses, and determining whose testimony should be believed. [citation omitted] The jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory, and sincerity. *Noe v. State*, 616 So.2d 298, 302 (Miss.1993) (citations omitted). "It is not for this Court to pass upon the credibility of witnesses and where evidence justifies the verdict it must be accepted as having been found worthy of belief." *Williams v. State*, 427 So.2d 100, 104 (Miss.1983).

(emphasis added) Ford v. State, 737 So.2d 424, 425 (Miss.App.1999).

See also *Jackson v. State*, 580 So.2d 1217, 1219 (Miss.1991) (on appellate review the state<sup>'</sup>" is entitled to the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence"), and *Noe*, 616 So.2d at 302 (evidence favorable to the defendant should be disregarded). Accord, *Harris v. State*, 532 So.2d 602, 603 (Miss.1988) (appellate court "should not and cannot usurp the power of the fact-finder/ jury"). "When a defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, the evidence which supports the verdict is accepted as true by the reviewing court, and the State is given the benefit of all reasonable inferences flowing from the evidence." *Dumas v. State*, 806 So.2d 1009, 1011 (Miss.2000).

This rigorous standard applies to the claim that Reed is entitled to a new trial:

The standard of review in determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is well settled. "[T]his Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." Dudley v. State, 719 So.2d 180, 182(¶ 8) (Miss.1998). On review, the State is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." Griffin v. State, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss.1992). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." Dudley, 719 So.2d at 182. "This Court does not have the task of re-weighing the facts in each case to, in effect, go behind the jury to detect whether the testimony and evidence they chose to believe was or was not the most credible." Langston v. State, 791 So.2d 273, 280 (¶ 14) (Miss.Ct.App.2001).

Smith v. State, 868 So.2d 1048, 1050-51 (Miss.App.2004),

It has been "held in numerous cases that the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of the

witnesses and the weight to be attached to their testimony." Kohlberg v. State, 704 So.2d 1307,

1311 (Miss.1997). As the Supreme Court reiterated in *Hales v. State*, 933 So.2d 962, 968 (Miss.2006), criminal cases will not be reversed "where there is a straight issue of fact, or a conflict in the facts..." [citations omitted] Rather, "juries are impaneled for the very purpose of passing upon such questions of disputed fact, and [the Court does] not intend to invade the province and prerogative of the jury." [citations omitted] Indeed, "[t]here was not a great deal of evidence for the fact finder to weigh since the defendant did not testify." *White v. State*, 722 So.2d 1242, 1247 (Miss.1998). Reed's decision not to testify or to put on any proof at all left the jury free to give "full effect" to "the testimony of the witnesses against" him. *Rush v. State*, 301 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss.1974). The fact that the jurors did so gives him no valid basis for complaint on appeal.

Reed contends that the overwhelming weight of the evidence supports a finding that he acted in self-defense and, alternatively, that the proof supports at best a finding that he was guilty of manslaughter rather than murder. The state counters that the jury was the "ultimate judge" of whether question whether this killing was murder, manslaughter, or committed in self-defense. *Webster v. State*, 817 So.2d 515, 518-19 (Miss.2002).<sup>1</sup>

It is uncontested that Reed shot at Ms. Combs several times and that she died as a result of gunshot wounds. Some two days earlier, he had told Ms. Martin that he was tired of being cheated on and that Ms. Combs would not "be around" much longer. By Reed's own admission, he was frustrated that Ms. Combs had been depriving him of sexual relations, and that he took the doorknob off her locked bedroom door. The state's proof also shows that he pushed her

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The jury was instructed on all three options (C.P.75-81).

through the window, dragged her as she was bleeding down the stairs and into the car, and drove her to a bridge where she was left to die. As the assistant district attorney stated in closing argument, the evidence justified a finding that this killing "was committed with intent in a design that was formed in his ind at the point he decided" that he was "going into that locked bedroom." (T.318) As for the claim of self-defense, the jury was well warranted in rejecting it. As the prosecutor argued in final closing, "What part of boom falls under this [reasonable grounds to apprehend a design on the part of the victim to kill him or do him some great bodily harm]? None of it. Boom. That's it. And then he shoots her in the face... " (T.335)

We incorporate the state's closing arguments by reference, as well as evidence summarized in our Statement of Substantive Facts, in asserting that the the evidence was not such that a reasonable juror could have returned no verdict other than not guilty, or guilty of manslaughter. To the contrary, the proof amply sustains the jury's determination that this killing was not manslaughter, that it was not justified by necessary self-defense, but that it was in fact murder. *See Jordan v. State*, — So.2d —, 2008 WL 4427202 (Miss., decided October 2, 2008); *Chandler v. State*, 967 So.2d 47, 50 (Miss. App. 2006). No basis exists for disturbing its verdict.

#### **PROPOSITION TWO:**

## **REED'S CHALLENGE TO HIS SENTENCE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED**

After the jury returned its verdict of guilty of murder, the following was taken:

[THE COURT:] I accept that verdict as the judgment of the court. Do you have anything you wish to say before I pass sentence? You don't have to. It's up to you.

THE DEFENDANT: Well, I would like to apologize to the family afterwards or do I have to do that now?

THE COURT: That would be later. That's not necessary now.

#### THE DEFENDANT: Okay.

THE COURT: All right. State, do you have available to you at this time the supporting documentation to support the amended indictment?

MR. LUSK: Yes, sir, Judge.

THE COURT: Indicting Mr. Reed as a habitual felon, a life habitual.

MR. LUSK: Yes, sir, Judge.

THE COURT: What's it?

MR. LUSK: That on October 2 of 2000 Mr. Reed was convicted in the Circuit Court of Harrison County Second Judicial District, Cause Number 2000-86, a felony possession of a controlled substance. Mr. Reed was sentenced to a sentence of three years. That three years was suspended for time served. We have calculated that time he spent in jail as 16 months and 15 days.

Then also in April of 2003 Mr. Reed was convicted in the Circuit Court of Harrison County Second Judicial District in Cause Number 2003-18 of the felony of simple assault on a law enforcement officer. And Mr. Reed was sentenced to a term of incarceration of five years.

THE COURT: All right. Cavin Earl Reed, the mandatory sentence for the crime of murder in the State of Mississippi is a life sentence.

Since you have qualified as an habitual felon, that is life without parole. That will be the sentence. You can take him away.

(T.344-45)

As shown by the foregoing excerpt, the defense did not contest the prior convictions or

sentences, and entered no objection whatsoever to sentencing. The state therefore contends that

Reed may not be heard to challenge his sentence on appeal. His second proposition is

procedurally barred. Sims v. State, 775 So.2d 1291, 1294 (Miss. App. 2000). Accord, Magee v. State, 951 So.2d 589, 592 (Miss. App. 2007).

Solely in the alternative, the state observes that the essence of Reed's challenge is the assertion that the prosecution failed to prove that he actually served separate terms of one year or more on each of his prior felony convictions. We acknowledge that MISS. CODE ANN.§ 99-19-83 (1972) (as amended) requires this proof. However, the state's proof satisfied MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-19-81 (1972) (as amended), which does not require a showing that the defendant actually served one year or more on each prior conviction. Where, as here, the crime for which the defendant stands convicted carries a mandatory sentence of life, there is no distinction between enhancement under Section 99-19-83 or Section 99-19-81.<sup>2</sup>

For these reasons, no basis exists for disturbing the trial court's imposition of sentence. Reed's second proposition should be denied.

### **PROPOSITION THREE:**

## REED'S CLAIM THAT HE WAS TRIED IN VIOLATION OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO SPEEDY TRIAL IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT

Reed finally contends that he was tried in violation of his constitutional right to speedy trial. The state does not contest the assertion that Reed was arrested on August 3, 2006, and that he was put to trial 593 days later on March 18, 2008. (Brief for Appellant 18-19) Reed made a demand

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